

Doctoral (PhD) School of Business Economics

## SUMMARY OF THESES

Annamária Kazai Ónodi The performance measurement at the service of VBM PhD Dissertation

Thesis supervisor

**Dr. László Reszegi** titular university professor

Budapest, 2008.

## **Department of Business Economics**

## **SUMMARY OF THESES**

Annamária Kazai Ónodi The performance measurement at the service of VBM PhD Dissertation

**Thesis supervisor** 

**Dr. László Reszegi** titular university professor

© Annamária Kazai Ónodi

## Contents

I. Antecedents of the research	4
Research objective and hypotheses	6
II. Research methodology	8
II /1. Database	8
II /2. Identification of companies committed to shareholder/owner value creation	9
II /3. Applied statistical methods	10
III. Research results	11
III. /1. Hypothesis H1 –Performance measurement and commitment to shareholder va	alue
creation	11
III./ 1.1 Application of PM instruments	11
III./ 1.2. Development level of the IT system – measurement of value-drivers	12
III./ 1.3 Content of controlling reports	13
III./ 2. Hypothesis H2–Financial performance and commitment to shareholder value	
creation	16
III./ 2.1 Return on invested capital, 2002	16
III./ 2.2 Traditional accounting measures	17
III./ 2.3 Operating excellence	18
III./ 2.4 Longitudinal analysis of profitability development	19
III./ 3 Summary	20
IV. References	21
Publications	23

#### I. Antecedents of the research

Value Based Management (VBM), one of the decisive trends to date<sup>1</sup>, partly means a valuemaximisation approach (long-term shareholder value creation is the primary goal of the company), and partly embraces the management procedures and processes required to implement that approach. The implementation of value-based management is a long and complex process, in which soft organisational factors as well as complex strategic issues and the performance measurement methods and techniques being applied all play a part. The performance measurement system has a priority role in the development and operation of value-based management, and my dissertation focus on the discussion of this priority area.

Simultaneously with the appearance of VBM, the issue of putting value in the centre of performance measurement was put on the agenda. The international technical literature reflected consensus as to the three levels of performance measurement being 1) the capital market performance of the company (realised shareholder return); 2) the internal value of the company; 3) the value drivers. The ultimate financial goal is to achieve adequate capital market performance, but company managers must focus on the enhancement of the internal value of the company, while keeping an eye on its market value and consciously managing the latter through investor communication. Another decisive component of VBM is the identification and measurement of these values can be influenced most effectively. The various trends differ in the financial indicators used to measure change in realised shareholder return and in the internal value of the company.

Corporate performance measurement has been the subject of almost continuous scientific inquiry since the 1980s. Its research has been quite extensive, with a variety of focus points. Ittner D. C. and Larcker D. F. [2000] systematise and review its results from the perspective of value-based management. One of the key conclusions offered by the international surveys

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> From the 1990s on, several authors have dealt with/committed themselves to value-based management. (Copeland et al [1999], Rappaport, A. [2002], Black – Wright – Bachman. – Davies [1999], Koller T. [2005]) International consulting companies play a decisive role in the development and mainstreaming of the arsenal of VBM tools: McKinsey, Boston Consulting Group, PriceWaterhouseCoopers, Alcar Consulting Group, Stern Stewart & Co., HOLT Value Associates.

The survey of Ryan H. E. and Trahan E. A. [1999] covering companies in the vanguard of their respective industries in the US showed that 87% of companies (184 companies) involved in the survey knew the concept of VBM.

is the decisive role of the context of performance measurement. From the point of view of my dissertation, three main streams of the international empirical studies deserve special attention. One of the neuralgic points of the development of value-based performance measurement systems (subject to most debate) is what the primary internal performance measure should be. There were frequent attempts to confirm the "adequacy" of the chosen measure by demonstrating significant correlation between the internal measure and shareholder return. (See Bacidore et al. 1997., Biddle G. C. et al. 1999., 1997., Clinton B. D. -Chen S. 1998., Lehn K. - Makhija A. K. 1999.) The controversial results are attributable to the short-term divergence of market value from the internal value of the company and the specific features of capital market behaviour. I deem more important the stream which tests the "adequacy" of the indicators by whether the application of a financial measure enhances value-adding behaviour and whether it ultimately contributes to better capital market performance (see Biddle G. C. et al. 1999., Kleiman R. T. 1999.). The third main research trend explores the relationship between non-financial value drivers and shareholder value creation. The results are again controversial. In general terms, managers realise the importance of non-financial value drivers, but find it problematic to measure them.

The surveys have shown that companies applying "value-driven" indicators to measure performance or making the causal relations between the value drivers explicit generally outperform their industry rivals.

The review of the relevant Hungarian technical literature warrants the conclusion that the concept of value-based management has appeared in the country; the most recent trends and methods of performance measurement are known there. (See Reszegi L. 2004., Dorgai I. 2004., Fiath A. 2004., Becker P. et al 2006). However, we do not know the exact spread of the concept of shareholder value adding, nor the distinctive features of companies committed to it. My research was meant to remedy, at least partly, these deficiencies.

#### **Research objective and hypotheses**

My research investigates two indirectly related issues. On the one hand, I try to identify the typical features of the performance measurement systems of Hungarian companies committed to shareholder/owner value creation and, on the other hand, I study the financial performance of this group of companies. I checked Hypothesis 1 and 2, through a number of sub-hypotheses.

#### Hypothesis 1.

Hungarian companies committed to shareholder/owner value creation pay more attention to PM and apply the new PM methods to a larger extent than Hungarian companies which do not concentrate on shareholder value creation.

**H1a:** As compared to companies not committed to shareholder/owner value creation,. Hungarian companies committed to shareholder/owner value creation apply EVA analysis, cost-sensitiveness testing, corporate capital-cost analysis in investment decisions in a significantly higher rate.

**H1b:** All Hungarian companies committed to shareholder/owner value creation apply financial indicator analysis, CF statement, the separation of fixed/variable costs and the calculation of the break-even point.

**H1c:** Under certain conditions, as compared to companies not committed to shareholder/owner value creation, Hungarian companies committed to shareholder/owner value creation apply analysis of indicators pertaining to the market value of the company, activity-based costing, target costing and the analysis of stock turnover indicators in a significantly higher rate.

**H1d:** In Hungarian companies committed to shareholder/owner value creation, higher consistency can be demonstrated between the application and declared usefulness of performance measurement methods.

**H1e:** As compared to companies not committed to shareholder/owner value creation, the IT systems of Hungarian companies committed to shareholder value creation provide significantly more support to business-related decision-making, planning, the analysis of deviations from the plan, reporting, valuation of company performance, development of the internal corporate processes, the exploration of cost-trimming options, the investment decisions, pricing decisions, the calculations of the profitability of products/product groups.

**H1f:** As compared to companies not committed to shareholder/owner value creation, the IT systems of Hungarian companies committed to shareholder/owner value creation provide significantly more support to the measurement of non-financial value drivers in addition to that of the financial ones.

**H1g:** As compared to companies not committed to shareholder/owner value creation, value drivers are present in a higher proportion in the controlling reports of Hungarian companies committed to shareholder/owner value creation.

**H1h:** As compared to companies not committed to shareholder/owner value creation, the controlling reports of Hungarian companies committed to shareholder/owner value creation rely to a higher extent on other information sources in addition to financial statements.

#### Hypothesis 2.

The operation of Hungarian companies committed to shareholder/owner value creation is characterised by significantly higher efficiency and better financial performance than that of Hungarian companies which do not concentrate on shareholder/owner value creation.

Hypothesis 2 is indirectly related to Hypothesis 1. I contend that companies committed to shareholder/owner value creation pay more attention to PM and achieve higher efficiency. I do not state direct causal relationship between better financial performance and the quality of the PM system; only that concentration on shareholder/owner value leads to better financial results (the better financial result being the effect) and, furthermore, that concentration on shareholder/owner value presumes an adequate PM system, that is, I consider PM a

necessary condition, not a cause. I checked Hypothesis 2, too, through a number of subhypotheses.

**H2a:** The financial performance of Hungarian companies committed to shareholder/owner value creation is higher in terms of return on invested capital (ROIC) than that of their industry rivals.

**H2b:** On the basis of the traditional accounting measures (ROE, ROA), no significant difference can be demonstrated between the performance of Hungarian companies committed to shareholder/owner value creation and that of their industry rivals.

I formulated the above Hypotheses H2a and H2b on the basis of the research findings of Biddle G. C. et al. [1999], namely that companies strive to achieve what they measure; companies applying EVA indicator produce significantly higher EVA return, whereas the same cannot be demonstrated for the traditional accounting measures.

**H2c:** The better financial performance of Hungarian companies committed to shareholder/owner value creation is underpinned by "operating excellence". In agreement with their better financial performance, company managers deem their own activity better in several areas than that of their rivals (e.g. cost-effectiveness, profitability, technical standards, product quality, capacity utilisation, qualification of employees).

**H2d:** As compared to companies not committed to shareholder/owner value creation, Hungarian companies committed to shareholder/owner value creation produced more marked performance improvement from 1992 to 2002.

#### **II. Research methodology**

#### II /1. Database

My studies relied on the database of the Competitiveness Research survey of 2004. (For the project plan of the research, see Chikán A. – Czakó E. 2006.) The company sample was

compiled, as a general principle, by addressing incorporated companies with more than 50 staff, keeping an eye also on representativeness. In 2004, a total of 1 300 companies were addressed, the response rate was 23% and, finally, 301 companies provided questionnaires suitable for evaluation. In terms of staff size, the majority (57.2%) of companies belongs to the category of medium-sized enterprises, whereas the rate of large enterprises (>250 staff) is 37.7%. (For a description of the sample of the questionnaire survey of 2004, see Lesi M. 2005 and Wimmer Á. – Csesznák A. 2005.)

# II /2. Identification of companies committed to shareholder/owner value creation

I had to settle a critical issues before embarking on the testing phase, namely the identification of the circle of companies committed to shareholder/owner value creation. In the corporate sample, the upper managers generally (94%) agreed that it was important to take into account the interests of the shareholders in decision-making. 83% of financial managers thought that shareholder satisfaction was a decisive criterion of the assessment of financial performance. The analyses, however, pointed to uncertainties in regard of the real meaning of taking shareholder interests into account. Only 34% of companies in the sample attributed a major role to high owner return in the development of financial strategy and the measurement of financial performance. The financial managers of most companies kept thinking in terms of return of sales or return on assets as primary financial objectives, and not in terms of shareholder value creation. Value-driven company management, on the other hand, considers it crucial that company managers should understand clearly that company value and, through it, shareholder/owner value, is determined by long-term performance which takes into account also the risks, and manifests itself in cash-flows, and not by short-term accounting results. Return on sales and return on assets do not measure the change in owner value; both are partial indicators. To realise value-driven management, it is not sufficient the declare the importance of owner value creation at the level of the upper management - the entire organisation must be made aware of it and appropriate measures must be taken to measure value creation. This was the point of departure of my classification, but I gave "commitment to shareholder/owner value creation" a relatively broad interpretation<sup>2</sup>, and hence 45% of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Subsequent research revealed that managers could often not interpret the question concerning "the role of high shareholder return in financial strategy". Therefore, I assigned to the category of companies committed to

company sample was assigned to this category. In the course of the analyses, I shall often refer to this group of companies as "value-driven companies". Although a somewhat looser term, I find it necessary to use this "abbreviated" form to ensure the transparency and easier interpretation of the analyses.

Companies committed to shareholder/owner value creation were present in every branch of the economy, the majority in the size categories of medium-sized (44%) and large (42%) enterprises. It follows from the composition of the corporate sample that the majority (54%) is in majority domestic ownership. The rate of companies in foreign ownership (25%) exceeded the corresponding rate in both the entire corporate sample and the total population, and majority state-owned companies were represented as well (21%).

#### II /3. Applied statistical methods

I adopted an explanation-oriented approach in my research<sup>3</sup>: I used empirical data to test the accuracy of the system of hypotheses formulated prior to the research.<sup>4</sup> In the opinion of Friedman [1986], a hypothesis is discarded if our predictions are "often" (or at least more often than predictions deriving from other hypotheses) in contradiction with the facts, and we consider it highly reliable if it "survived" countless such tests. That is, if empirical testing confirms our theory, then we can accept it temporarily. In testing the accuracy of the preliminary hypotheses, I do not content myself with supporting it with statistical calculations based on empirical data, but I also investigate, to some extent, the possibility of its disproval.<sup>5</sup>

Furthermore, the research applied basic statistical methods and multiple statistical analyses; two of which had special importance. My hypotheses being based on a comparison of companies committed/not committed to shareholder value creation, the independent samples T test was essential to test each sub-hypothesis. Furthermore, I had to examine for both hypotheses whether concentration on shareholder value – i.e. the importance attributed to performance measurement and to focussing on shareholder value – and better financial

shareholder value creation those entities where the upper management and the financial management committed itself to shareholder value creation at the level of declarations, and considered high shareholder return and important criterion in the financial strategy, and also companies that could not interpret the question, but considered profitability an important criterion and possessed an adequate set of PM instruments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> On explanation-oriented and understanding-oriented approaches, se Kieser A. [1995]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Friedman M. [1986], albeit not discarding the possibility of logical testing, considers empirical testing decisive. Popper 1976 emphasises disproval on the logical plane.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> When disproving a hypothesis, I do not aim at comprehensiveness, my ultimate goal being to confirm, not to disprove the hypotheses.

performance actually correlated, to exclude apparent correlations; and the relationship between the two variables cannot be explained by a third one that would serve as the cause of both. The application of the Lazarsfeld model (see Babbie E. 2003, pp.475-493.) is essential for testing both hypotheses. The Lazarsfeld model examines the nature of the relationship between two variables by studying the effect of the introduction of further variables. It breaks down the original sample into sub-samples on the basis of the new variable, and then it defines the relationship of the original variables in each sub-sample. It is most important in the context of the application of the Lazarsfeld model to identify correctly the variables to be regarded as control variables. The selection of the control variable is supported by correlation and regression analysis.

#### **III. Research results**

# III. /1. Hypothesis H1 –Performance measurement and commitment to shareholder value creation

#### III./ 1.1 Application of PM instruments

(Sub-hypotheses H1a, H1b, H1c, H1d)

A very high and significantly higher proportion of Hungarian companies committed to shareholder value creation applied financial indicator analysis (98%), cash-flow analysis (93%), distinguished fixed and variable costs (89%), analysed the break even point (82%), and cost sensitiveness (77%), made capital cost calculations (77%) and used stock turnover indicators (79%) and activity-based costing (71%). Sub-hypothesis H1b had to be modified: instead of the assumed 100% application rate, it was only possible to demonstrate the significantly higher application rate of the performance measure under study. Sub-hypotheses H1a and H1c were confirmed for the corporate sample. (For a summary of the sub-hypotheses of Hypothesis H1, see Table 1 at the end of Section III./1.3.) In relation to companies not committed to shareholder value creation, the most marked differentials were shown for cost sensitiveness examinations, capital cost calculation and the calculation of the break even point. These performance measurement instruments play an important part in shareholder value maximisation decisions, and represent an essential part of the advanced executive information system.

The analysis of the Competitiveness Research database gave no reliable answer as to the measure used to approximate the internal value of the company, and as to what they considered the primary value measure. Only 35% of companies committed to shareholder value creation applied the EVA indicator (they considered it useful). As for the distribution of the application rate of the EVA indicator in a breakdown by company size, within the group of companies committed to shareholder value creation, large enterprises boasted the highest rate at 40%, which approximated the application rate demonstrated by international studies. As for the non-value-driven companies, on the other hand, the highest application rate was shown by the small enterprises (23.6%), but that is probably due to the misinterpretation<sup>6</sup> of the relevant question and the resulting erroneous answers.

The shareholder value creation approach manifests itself in performance measurement also in that cash-flow calculation and capital cost calculation was regarded much more useful by companies committed to shareholder value creation than by their uncommitted peers (Sub-hypothesis H1d). Sub-hypothesis H1d had to be modified, as no stronger correlation could be shown between the application rate and declared usefulness of the performance measurement method; in general, value-driven companies considered the performance measurement methods more useful. That is, presumably, there exists a circle of Hungarian companies which already think in terms of company and shareholder value, not only in terms of accounting profits.

# **III./ 1.2. Development level of the IT system – measurement of value-drivers** (Sub-hypotheses H1e, H1f)

The financial, marketing and production managers and the representatives of the top management evaluated the development level and supportive function of the IT systems of their respective companies through some 80 questions. In responses to related questions, value-driven companies rated their IT system higher without exception than non-value-driven ones. The ratings of the financial managers were the most different. Their subjective value judgements indicated the biggest difference in the areas of IT support to investment decisions  $(3,61; 3,05)^7$ , followed by planning (3,92; 3,37 and profitability calculation (3,96; 3,45)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> I assume that some respondents confused economic value added and simplified entrepreneurial tax, both abbreviated as EVA in Hungarian.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> On a 5-point Likert scale.

The companies were assigned to three clusters on the basis of the level of development of their IT system: good, moderate, weak.<sup>8</sup> In the group of value-driven companies possessing a "good" IT system, profitability calculation and planning was provided most support reflected in significantly better self-evaluations (scores of 4.58 and 4.55, respectively). The other extreme was occupied by the tracking of staff and customer satisfaction (scores of 3.16); value-driven companies deemed their own performance much poorer in this respect than the non-value-driven ones.

All things considered, companies committed to shareholder value creation had more advanced IT systems, according to the self-evaluation of their managers; consequently, their IT system provided more support to measure value drivers (sub-hypotheses H1e was confirmed). Support provided to measure financial value drivers was significantly higher, but no significant difference could be shown in regard of the non-financial value drivers (Sub-hypotheses H1e restricted validity). My results agreed with those of the international special literature: managers consider the non-financial value drivers important, but even the most advanced corporate IT systems give maximum medium support to measure customers or staff satisfaction.

#### III./ 1.3 Content of controlling reports

(Sub-hypotheses H1g, H1h)

It was found that 93% of companies committed to shareholder/owner value creation prepared controlling reports; this rate was higher than the 82% sample average. The most frequent components of the controlling reports (performance as related to the plan, financial measures, cost analyses, sales quantity information) were applied to a small extent (10%), but in higher proportion (87%) by value-driven companies. The indicators referring to productivity, resources utilasition and profitability also figured in significantly higher proportions (higher by 10-15 percentage points) in the controlling reports of value-driven companies. Non-financial value drivers show the largest scatter. The controlling reports of value-driven companies showed higher rates of occurrence of information on pruduct quality (by 22

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The rate of value based company in good information system: 48%, in moderate information system: 38%, in weak information system: 16%. The rate of company not committed to sharholder value creation in good information system: 30%, in moderate information system: 47%, in weak information system: 23%.

percentege points), customer satisfaction (5,6 percentege points), position of competitors (6 percentege points), employee performance (1 percentege points).

According to the value-driven companies, the most important pieces of information in the controlling reports are the following: information on sales  $(4,49)^9$ , cost analyses (4,45), and product profitability (4,44). I analysed the group considering controlling an important component of the success of the entire company apart. Interesting deviations occurred in two cases. Firstly, a companies committed to shareholder value creation deemed product quality much more important in their controlling reports (3,88) than "uncommitted" companies (3,39). Secondly, non-value-driven companies deemed the role of only the financial measures significanly more important (4,38 v. 4,31). The accountig approach is more typical of non-value-driven companies, this is supported also by the fact that, within the group of companies deeming their executive information system better than the average, the non-value driven companies judged the importance of the role of accounting information int the controlling reports very high (4,82), significantly higher than their value-driven peers (4,48).

96% of controlling reports by value-driven companies included information originating from financial statements, and 87% included non-financial data. This high application rate notwithstanding, non-value driven companies include data originating from financial statements in the controlling reports to a a small (2,5%), but significantly higher rate, whereas value-driven companies rely on information sources other than financial statements to larger extent. The biggest difference occurred in terms of non-financial data originated from the information system of the company (87%, 74%), fact data originating from external sources (84%, 35%), and the use of information based on the opinion of the customers (46%; 31%). The more marked accounting orientation of non-value-driven companies manifested itself also in that they regarded controlling report data based on financial statements more important than their value-driven peers. The value-driven company, on the other hand, rated information based on external sources and customer opinion significantly higher.

All things considered, the controlling reports of companies committed to shareholder value creation referred to value drivers more frequently, and they had a more marked tendency to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> On a 5-point Likert scale.

rely on information sources other than financial statements. Table 1 gives a summary of the testing results of the sub-hypotheses of Hypothesis H1.

	Sub-hypotheses	With reference to the	Note	Amended hypothesis for the
		corporate sample		total population
Hla	"Value-driven companies" apply EVA analysis, cost-sensitiveness testing, cost of capital analysis in investment decisions in a significantly higher rate.	Confirmed	EVA requires further investigation.	Cannot be disproved; probable.
H1b	All "value-driven companies" apply financial indicator analysis, CF statement, the separation of fixed/variable costs and the calculation of the break- even point.	Modified	The modified sub- hypothesis – namely the higher rate of application of the priority analytical instruments by companies committed to shareholder value creation – was confirmed.	Cannot be disproved; probable.
H1c	"Value-driven companies" apply analysis of indicators pertaining to the market value of the company, activity-based costing, target costing and the analysis of stock turnover indicators in a significantly higher rate.	Confirmed		Cannot be disproved; probable.
H1d	Higher consistency can be demonstrated between the application and declared usefulness of performance measurement methods.	Modified	The modified sub- hypothesis - value-driven companies consider CF statement and cost of capital calculation more useful than non-value-driven companies - was confirmed.	Cannot be disproved; probable.
Hle	Provide supporting of IT systems I. (planning, reporting, decision-making)	Confirmed		Cannot be disproved; probable.
H1f	Provide supporting of IT systems II: non-financial value drivers	Restricted validity	Statement true for the entire corporate sample, but a comparison of companies with a more advanced IT system revealed no significant	It is likely that financial value drivers enjoy more support.
			difference in most cases; staff satisfaction tracking was provided significantly less support by the IT system of value-driven companies.	It will probably not be possible to demonstrate significant gaps in the use of non-financial value drivers.
H1g	Value drivers are present in a higher proportion in the controlling reports of value- driven companies.	Confirmed		Cannot be disproved; probable.
H1h	The controlling reports of value- driven companies.rely to a higher extent on other information sources in addition to financial statements.	Confirmed		Cannot be disproved; probable.

 Table 1. Hypothesis H1: Summary table

# **III./ 2.** Hypothesis H2–Financial performance and commitment to shareholder value creation

### III./ 2.1 Return on invested capital, 2002

(Sub-hypothesis H2a)

Within the company sample, the rates of return on invested capital (ROIC) recorded in 2002 indicated definitely higher average profitability in the group of companies committed to shareholder value creation (11.84% as opposed to 4.75%). This, however, does not mean that a higher proportion of companies committed to shareholder/owner value creation actually created value for their shareholders – this is based on assumptions only. Owing to the absence of data on company cost of capital and the fact that no reliable industry-specific comparisons could be made, I "called on" the Lazarsfeld model to prove the hypothesis, selecting the group features by regression analysis.

Regression analysis revealed that, within the corporate sample, profitability development was influenced to a significant extent by the entity's capacity to react to changes in the market environment. Value-driven companies preparing for market changes produced the highest return on invested capital (18.2%), whereas the performance of companies reacting with a delay or not at all was poorer (3.6%) than that of non-value-driven companies prepared for change.

Another decisive feature of the development of profitability (according to the regression calculation) was the type of main owner. The calculations showed that, in the category of majority state-owned entities, the companies where the management underwent a change in approach (they strove to be profitable and create value for the shareholders), or which managed to prepare for change in their market environment produced higher returns. This, however, does not mean that they produced value: given their very low profitability, the majority probably destroyed value.

Majority foreign-owned companies committed to shareholder value creation achieved much higher rates of return (15%). Regression analysis demonstrated significant stochastic correlation between profitability and commitment to shareholder value creation and also company size in the category of majority foreign-owned companies. Within the group, large enterprises recorded the highest rates of return in 2002, but no significant difference could be identified in terms of return on invested capital between value-driven and non-value-driven companies (16% and 17%, respectively).

The group of companies in majority domestic ownership raised the most questions. True, significantly higher ROIC was shown, but regression analysis failed to confirm the stochastic correlation of commitment to shareholder value creation and profitability, as opposed to the full corporate sample and the groups of majority state-owned and majority foreign-owned companies, respectively. According to the calculations, the profitability of companies in majority domestic ownership was influenced most forcefully by whether they could prepare for change.

Finally, I compared the profitability rates of the 11 sub-groups identified on the basis of the Lazarsfeld model; in 75%, companies committed to shareholder value creation produced higher ROIC. All in all, my research did not disprove the hypothesis that if shareholder value creation is a clearly declared objective of the management of the company (irrespective of its exact place in the hierarchy of company objectives and its relationship to the objectives of the other stakeholders), that is conducive to more favourable financial results.

## III./ 2.2 Traditional accounting measures

(Sub-hypothesis H2b)

My calculations confirmed the problems associated with the traditional accounting indicators in part. Given the significant gap in the profitability of value-driven and non-value-driven companies, in 2002, in 50% of the sub-groups, significant profitability differences could be demonstrated also by the traditional measures, and longitudinal analysis showed an even more marked divergence. Measured in terms of ROIC indicator, it was possible to show that, from 1996 to 2002 companies committed to shareholder value creation produced higher returns, but that result was not confirmed by the ROE<sup>10</sup> and ROA indicators from 1995 to 1998.

I examined this issue on the basis of the database of 50 companies covering 11 years to see whether the ROIC, ROE, ROA profitability indicators shifted in the same direction (improvement or deterioration) from period to period. An average inconsistency of 28% was shown, which is indicative of the fact that the accounting measures do not always meet the most important requirement set to performance measures: the principle of encouraging ranking.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> ROE = Return on Equity, ROA = Return on Assets

The original sub-hypotheses H2b was modified: on the basis of the traditional accounting measures (ROE, ROA), it is not always possible to demonstrate significant difference between the performace of Hungarian companies committed to shareholder value creation and that of their industry rivals. Under certain circumstances, the ROE, ROA, ROIC indicators show profitability changes of a contrary tendency. The modified hypothesis was confirmed by the calculations made for the corporate sample.

## **III./ 2.3 Operating excellence** (Sub-hypothesis H2c)

The comparison of the self-evaluatins provided by companies committed and not committed to shareholder/owner value creation, respectively to the industry average shows that, with the exception of product quality, where no significant difference could be shown, companies committed to shareholder/owner value creation give significantly better self-evaluations. The difference is biggest in the rating of market share  $(3,34; 3,01)^{11}$  and of profitability (3,06; 2,78)

The CR questionnaire asked the managers to rate their companies as compared to their strongest competitors according to 42 criteria. Within the companies committed to shareholder value creation, they judged themselves better in terms of the survey criteria in 59% of the cases, and worse in 18% only than companies not committed to shareholder value creation.

According to the self-evaluation of the managers, Hungarian companies committed to shareholder/owner value creation had better cost efficiency ratios; they made better forecasts of their market environment; judged their market share, as well as customer service standards, the competitiveness of their market prices and their degree of capacity utilisation, logistics system and IT system better. The self-evaluation of the managers may, of course, include subjective elements but, even so, the research findings testify to the value-conscious approach of the managers of companies committed to shareholder value creation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> On a 5-point Likert scale.

### III./ 2.4 Longitudinal analysis of profitability development

(Sub-hypothesis H2d)

According to the international surveys, companies adopting VBM perform better in the financial sense even if their performance did not differ from that of their rivals prior to the adoption of the new approach.

The databases of the Competitiveness Research studies of 1999 and 2004 give an opportunity to examine profitability development from 1992 to 2002. The results of my longitudinal analysis carried out on a sample of 50 and over 11 years do not contradict the statements of Kleiman [1999]. In 1992, the average ROIC of companies not committed to shareholder value creation still exceeded significantly that of companies committed to shareholder value creation, whereas in 2002, the profitability of the latter was clearly higher. The self-evaluation of the managers indicated stable average return on capital for value-driven companies, and **a** deteriorating tendency in the group of non-value-driven companies, with significant changes in ownership structure, demand and competition ranking.

	Sub-hypotheses	With reference to the corporate sample	Note	Amended hypothesis for the total population
H2a	The financial performance of value-dviven companies is higher in terms of ROIC than that of their industry rivals.	Confirmed, with addendum	In addition to commitment to shareholder value creation, reaction to changes in the market environment is also a decisive factor. Value-driven companies prepared for change produced the highest average rate of return on investment in 2002.	Cannot be disproved. Shareholder value creation needs to be investigated further.
H2b	On the basis of the traditional accounting measures (ROE, ROA), no significant difference can be demonstrated	Modified	The modified sub-hypothesis – on the basis of the traditional accounting measures (ROE, ROA), it is not always possible to demonstrate significant difference between the performace of value-driven and non-value-driven company – was confirmed.	Cannot be disproved.
H2c	The better financial performance is underpinned by "operating excellence".	Confirmed		Cannot be disproved; probable.
H2d	Value-driven company produced more marked performance improvement from 1992 to 2002.	Confirmed		Cannot be disproved.

Table 1. Hypothesis H1: Summary table

#### III./ 3 Summary

My study covers what is a critical period in the history of the Hungarian corporate sector: the period of "learning" following economic restructuring and the transformation of the ownership relations. At that time, Hungarian companies were busy learning whatever they could about the market, their rivals, the owner's behaviour and objectives; at the same time, due to the openness of the Hungarian economy, they had to hold their ground in keen competition also on the domestic market. I studied the attitude of Hungarian companies to shareholder value creation in this "learning" period. Despite the combined effect of the significant environmental "noises", my research did not disprove that shareholder value creation was present in the approach, the internal value system, the system of objectives and the performance measures being applied by significant company groups, and there were several signs that commitment to shareholder value creation was concomitant also with operating excellence. These signs may encourage in practice the company management and the shareholders to apply performance measures supporting value creation and to put it into the centre of business management. Furthermore, the results of my research can be used in university education, in company practice and they will, hopefully, represent the starting point of further research in the future.

### **IV. References**

**Babbie, E. [2003]:** A társadalomtudományi kutatás gyakorlata. Balassi Kiadó (*Practise of social science research*)

**Bacidore, J. M. – Boquist, J. A. – Milbourn, T. T. – Thakor, A. V. [1997]:** The search for the best financial performance measure. Financial Analysts Journal, Charlotteville: May/Jun 1997. Vol. 53; Iss. 3; pg. 11.

**Becker P.- Turner A.-Varsányi J. - Virág M. [2005**]: Értékalapú stratégiák. Akadémiai Kiadó (*Value based strategies*)

**Biddle, G.C. – Bowen, R.M – Wallace, J. S**. [1999]: Evidence on EVA. Journal of applied corporate finance 1999. summer, Iss. 2. pp. 69-79.

**Biddle, G.C. – Bowen, R.M – Wallace, J. S**. [1997]: Does EVA beat Earnings? Evidence on Associations with Stock Returns and Firm Values. Journal of Accounting and Economics, Vol. 24, No. 3, pp. 301-336.

Black, A. –Wrigh,t P. –Bachman, J. E. –Davies, J. [1999]: Shareholder value. Az értékközpontú vállalatirányítás. KJK

**Chikán A. – Czakó E. [2005]:** Versenyben a világgal 2004-2006 – Gazdasági veresnyképességünk vállalai nézőpontból. Kutatási tervtanulmány. Versenyképesség kutatások műhelytanulmány-sorozat, 1. kötet, BCE Versenyképeség Kutató Központ Budapest. (*In Global Competition 2004-2006 – Hungarian Competitiveness from Enterprise Perspective – Research Program Proposal*)

Clinton, B. D. – Chen, S. [1998]: Do New Performace Measures Measure Up? Management Accounting; Oct 1997; Vol. 80; Iss. 4;

**Copeland, T. – Koller, T. – Murrin, J. [1999]:** Vállalatértékelés. Panem (*Valuation. Measuring and Managing the Value of Companies*)

**Dorgai I. [2004b]:** A részvényesi értékmaximalizálás és a vállalati értékteremtés kapcsolata. Ph.D. disszertáció. BKAE (*Relationship between shareholders' value maximization and company performance measurement*)

**Fiath A. [2004]:** Az értékközpontú vállalatirányítás gyakorlata a Mol Rt-nél. Vezetéstudomány 2004. 3. szám. pp. 38-46. (*Value Based Management at MOL*.)

Friedman M. [1986]: Infláció, munkanélküliség, monetarizmus. Budapest, KJK. (Inflation, unemployment, monetarism)

Hunyadi L. - Mundruczó Gy.- Vita L. [2008]: Statisztika I. II. kötet. Aula (Statistics)

Ittner, C. D. – Larcker, F. [2000]: Assessing empirical research in managerial accounting: a value-based menegement perspective.

Kieser A. [1995]: Szervezetelméletek. Aula Kiadó (Organisationstheorien)

Kleiman, R. T. [1999]: Some new evidence on EVA Companies. Journal of Applied Corporate Finance, Summer 1999. Vol.12. No 2. pg. 80.

**Koller, T. [2005]**: Don't expect too much of your share price. The Mckinsey Quarterly 2005. special edition: Value and performance. pg. 29.

Lehn, K. – Makhija, A. K. [1997]: EVA, accountig profits, and CEO turnover: am empirical examination, 1985-1994. Journal of Applied Corporate Finance, Summer 1997. Vol.10. No 2. pg.90.

Lesi M. [2005]: A 2004-es versenyképesség kutatás vállalati mintájának alapjellemzői és reprezentativitása. Versenyképesség kutatások műhelytanulmány-sorozat, 2. kötet, BCE Versenyképesség Kutató Központ, Budapest

**Popper K. [1976]**: A társadalomtudományok logikája. In: Papp Zs. (szerk) [1976]: Tény, érték, ideológia. Gondolat Kiadó, 279-301.o. (*Logic of the social sciences*)

**Rappaport A. [2002]:** A tulajdonosi érték, Alinea kiadó (*Creating Shareholder Value – A guide for Managers and Investors*)

**Reszegi L. [2004]:** A tulajdonosi érték növelése – a vállalati teljesítménymérés koordinátarendszerének néhány problémája. Vezetéstudomány 2004. 7-8. szám, pp. 4-15. *(Creating Shareholder value – some problems of the performace measure)* 

**Ryan, H. E. – Trahan , E. A. [1999]:** The Utilization of Value-Based Management: An Empirical Analysis. Financial Practice and Education – Spring/Summer 1999. pp. 46-58.

**Wimmer Á. – Csesznák A. [2005]:** A vállalati jellemzők és összefüggéseik az EUcsatlakozás idején. A "Versenyben a világgal 2004-2005" kutatási programban résztvevő vállalatok jellemzése. Versenyképesség kutatások műhelytanulmány-sorozat, 3. kötet, BCE Versenyképesség Kutató Központ, Budapest

### **Publications**

Ónodi A. [2004]: Kell-e választani? Tulajdonosi értékelmélet, érintett elmélet. Vezetéstudomány 2004. 7-8. szám, pp. 60-72.

Ónodi A. [2005]: EVA számviteli korrekciók, 57. sz. Műhelytanulmány. 2005. BCE, Vállalatgazdaságtan Intézet. http://www.vallgazd.hu

**Kazainé Ónodi Annamária [2005]:** A Balanced Scorecard (BSC) – kiegyensúlyozott stratégiai mutatószámrendszer és alkalmazásának rendőrségi tapasztalatai. In. Budapesti Corvinus Egyetem Vállalatgazdaságtan Intézet – Országos Rendőr-főkapitányság [2005]: Az üzemgazdasági szemlélet alkalmazási lehetőségei a rendőrségi veztésben Kutatási zárótanulmányok. Budapest, 2005. október.

**Kazainé Ónodi Annamária [2005]:** A tevékenységalapú költségszámítás (Activity Based Costing, ABC) és alkalmazásának lehetősége a rendőrségi szervezeteknél –az angol példa. In. Budapesti Corvinus Egyetem Vállalatgazdaságtan Intézet – Országos Rendőr-főkapitányság [2005]: Az üzemgazdasági szemlélet alkalmazási lehetőségei a rendőrségi vezetésben Kutatási zárótanulmányok. Budapest, 2005. október.

**Chikán A. – Czakó E. – Kazainé Ónodi A. [2006]:** Gazdasági versenyképességünk vállalati nézőpontból – Versenyben a világgal 2004-2006 kutatási program. Zárótanulmány. http://www.vallgazd.hu

### **Publications of conferences**

**Kazainé Ónodi A**. **[2007]:** Az értékközpontú vállalatvezetést szolgáló teljesítménymérési rendszer. II. Vállalat és tőkepiaci konferencia. Királyhelmec 2007. jan. Konferencia kötet 4. sz. tanulmány.

http://www.uni-corvinus.hu/fileadmin/user\_upload/hu/tanszekek/gazdalkodastudomanyi/tsz-bvp/Egyeb/Kiralyhelmec/KH4\_Kazaine\_Onodi.pdf

**Kazainé Ónodi A**. **[2007]:** Emberi erőforrás kezelése az EVA rendszerben Európai Integráció – Elvek és döntések. Gazdaságfejlődés Európában. II. Pannon Gazdaságtudományi Konferencia Tanulmánykötet. I. 405-412.old. Pannon Egyetem 2007.

Kazainé Ónodi A. [2008]: Tulajdonosi értékteremtés melletti elkötelezettség Magyarországon. Ipargazdasági konferencia 2008. szeged.